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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

Civil Action No: 

v. ) 
) Electronically filed 

SALLY LUND, ) 

------~>- -------------
Defendant. 	 ) 

) 

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America brings this action to enforce Title VIII oftbe Civil Rights 

Act of 1968, as amended by the Fair Housing AmendmenlB Act of 1988 ("Falr Housing Act"), 

42 U;8.C. §§ 3601-3631. This action is brought on behalfof Sharon Dunfee, who suffered 

discrimination on account ofher disability by Detendant Sally Lund and David Lund I . 42 

U.S.C. § 3612(0). The United StateS seeks injunctive and declaratory relief, as well as monetary 

damages, the basis for which is alleged as follows: 

1. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 and 

42 U.S.C. § 3612(0)(1). 

2. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), because the claims alleged herein 

arose in the Western District ofPennsylvania. 

1 David Lund passed away during the investigation of this matter at the United States 
Department ofHousing and Urban Development. 
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II. PARTIES AND SUBJECT PROPERTY 

3. Sharon Dlmfee is a woman with a disability as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 3602(h). 

Ms. Dunfee's mental disability limits her major life activities, illcJuding her ability to interact 

with others. 

4. Ms. Dunfee has a disability-related need for her two emotionai assistance cats (at 

times referred to by the Pwties as "service cats" 01' "emotional assistance cats"). 

5. Ms. Dunfee is a p~lla!1t in the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program. 42 

U.s.C. § 1437f, and has a Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher ("Section 8 Voucher" or 

"Voucher") to assist in paying rent. 

6. Defendant Sally Lund and David Lund owned and rented a single-wnily 

detachcd home located at 423 West Front Street, Erie, PmIDsylvania, which they advertised for 

rent at $500 per month in the Erie Times-News. The subject property is a dwel1ing as defined by 

42 U.S.C. § 3602(b). 

III. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

7. In August of2009, Ms. Dunfee viewed an advertisement ill the Erie TImes-News 

advertising the subject property for rent at $500 per month. 

8. On or about August 7, 2009, Ms. Dunfee called the telephone number listed in the 

advertisement to inquire about renting the subject property. She spoke to DefendW1t Sally Lund. 

9. During the conversation, Ms. Dunfee explained to Ms. Lund that she owned two 

service cats for emotional support, W1d that she had a Section 8 Voucher. 

10. Ms. Lund responded that she would accept the Voucher but would not permit Ms. 

Dunfee to have cats on the property. 

2 




Case 2:05-mc-02025 Document 822 Filed 06/19/13 Page 3 of 7 

II. Ms. Dunfee further explained that her cats were service animals and that she 

needed them for her health. 

12. Ms. Lund told Ms. Dunfee that she should not be so emotionally dependent on her ' 

cats. 

13. Ms. Lund did not ask for medical or other documentation conceming Ms. 

Dunfee's need for the emotional support animals. 

_	 ______IA.--After the1elephone..calLwith.Ms.Lund,.Ms Dunfee contacted Constance BJlmett, 

Housing Director at Voices for Independence, a disability advocacy group in Erie, Pennsylvania. 

15. Ms. Dunfee described the telephone call with Ms. Lund to Ms. Burnett, and 

requested Ms. BUI'I\ett's assistance in handling the matter. 

16. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Burnett telepboned the Lunds on Ms. Dunfee 's behalf. 

17. Ms. Burnett initially spoke with Pefendant Sally Lund. Ms. Burnett told Ms. 

Lund that she was calling on Ms. Dunfee's behalf about their recent conversation regarding 

renting the subject property. 

18. Ms. Burnett informed Ms. Lund that, as a person with a disability, Ms. Dunfee 

. has certain rights under the Fair Housing Act and that it was a violation of the Act to deny 

honsing to a person with a disability based on his or her need for service animals. 

19. Shortly into the conversation, Ms. Lund handed the telephone to Mr. Lund. Ms. 

Burnett explained to Mr. Lund that the Fair Housing Act required them to allow Ms. Dtmfee to 

occupy the subject property with her emotional assistance cats regardless of their pet policy. 

20. Mr. Lund told Ms. Burnett that they would not permit Ms. Dunfee to rent the 

subject property with her cats, nor could anyone dictaie what they could do with their property. 
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21. Defendant Sally Lund knew ox should have known that Ms. Dunfee had a 

disability. 

22. Defendant Sally Lund lmew ox should have known tim! Ms. DWlfee had made a 

request fol' a reasonable accomlllodation to ilieir "no pets"policy. 

23. Defendant Sally Lund refused to make a reasonable accommodation in her rules, 

policies or practices when such accomlllodations may have been necessary to afford Ms. Dunfee 

____e!llial.9.PportwJity to"l~eJ!lld enioyth.~_8u1Jject property. 

IV. MS. DUNFEElS DISCRIMINATION COMPLAINT 

24. On Dr about hIDe 24, 2010, Ms. Dlmfee timely filed a complaint of dis~nmhlation 

against Defendant Sally Lund and David Lund with the United States Dt.>parlment ofHotJsing 

and Urban Development ("HUD'), pursuant to the Fair Housing Act. 

25. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3610(1;\) and (b), the Secretary ofHUD conducted lU1d 

completed and investigation offue complaint, attempted conciliation without success, and 

prep!l1'ed a final investi.gative report. 

26. Based upon fue information gathered in the investigation, the Secretary, pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. § 3610(g)(l), determined that reasonable Clluse existed to believe that illegal. 

disOl'inlinatory housing practices had oocurred. Therefore, on April 5, 2013, the Secretary issued 

a Charge ofDiscrimination, putsuant to. 42 U.S.C. § 3610(g)(2)(A), oharging Defendant Sally 

Lund and David Lund with engaging in discriminatory practices in violation of the Fair Housill!i 

Act. 

27. On April 19, 2013, Defendant StIlly Lund timely elected to have the olainl 

asserted in HUD' s Charge ofDiscriminatiol1 resolved in'a civil action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

3612(a). 
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28. On April 22, 2013, the Adminislrative Law Judge issued a Notice of Election to 

Proceed in United States Federal District Court and terminated the administrative proceedings on 

Ms. Dunfee's complaint. 

29. Following the Notice ofElection, the Secretary ofHUD authorized the Attomey 

General to commence a civil action, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3612(0). 

V. FAm HOUSING ACT VIOLATIONS 

_ ____---" ~efendJIDt,J:hro.l!gIJ...1illuJ5l1ions..descdbed ab=, has violated the Fair Housing30	 _

Act by: 

a. 	 Discriminating in the rental of and denying a dwelling to Ms. Dwuee 

because ofher disability, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(£)(1)(A); 

b. 	 Refusing to make reasonable accommodations in the rules, policies, 

practices, or services, when such accommodations were necessary to 

afford Ms. Dunfee ao equal opportunity to use aod enjoy a dwelliug, in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(t)(3)(B); and 

c. 	 Making a statement with respect to the rental of a dwelling that indicates a 

limitation or discrimination based on Ms. Dunfee's disability, in violation 

of42 U.S.C. § 3604(c). 

31 . Ms. Dunfee has suffered and continues to suffer damages as a result of 

Defendant's Fair Housing Act violations. She is atl "aggrieved person" within the meaning of42 

U.S.C. § 3602(i). 

32. Defendant's discriminatory actions were intentional, willful, and/or taken in 

disregard of the federally protected rights afMs. Dunfee. 

WHEREFORE, the United States requests entry ofali. ORDER that: 
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1. Declares that Defendant's conduct, as alleged herein, violates the Fair Housing 

Act; 

2. Enjoins Defendant, and all other persons in active concert or participation with 

her, !i:om: 

a. 	 Discriminating in the rental, or otherwise making unavailable or denying 

dwellings to renters because ofdisability; 

_	 b. Discriminating against anY-nerson in the terms. conditions. or privileges of 

the rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in 

connection with such dwelling, beCatlSe of disability; 

c. 	 Failing or refusing to make reasonable accommodations as required by 42 

U.S.C. 	§ 3604(t)(3)(B); 

d. 	 Making any statement with respect to the rental of a dwelling that 

indicates limitation or discrimination based 011 disability, or an intention to 

make any such limitation 01' discrimination; 

e. 	 Failing or t'efusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to 

prevent the recurrence of any discriminatory conduct in the future and to 

eliminate, to the extent practicable, the effects of the Defendant's 

discriminatory conduct; and 

f. 	 Failing orrefusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to 

restore, as nearly as practicable, Sharon Dunfee to the position she would 

have been in but for the discriminatory conduct, including implementing 

policies and procedures to ensure that 110 applicants or residents are 

discriminated against because of disability. 
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3. Awards monetary damages to Shal'onDunfee, pm'suant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 

3612(0)(3) and 3613(0)(1). 

The United States :ful'iher requests suoh additional1'elief as the interests ofjustice may require. 

Date: Jtll16 19, 2013 

ERIC H. HOLDER, JR. 
----A:tlmliey-General----

DAVID J. HICKTON qI-tciMAS fPER~ 
United States Attorney Assistant Attorney Genel·a] 
Western District of.PenllSylvania Civil Rights DivisiOli' ~ 

~~-
STEVEN H. ROSENBAUM 
Chief 

M Lucv G. Carlson 
ELIZABETH A. SINGER 
Director, U.S. AUolneys' Fair Housing 

Program 
LUCY G. CARLSON 
Tl'ial Attorney 
Civil Rights Division 
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section 
950 PI:)J;I1lSylvania Ave. NW - NWB 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Bar No: DC 462404 
Emall: luoy.carlsoll@usdoj.gov . 
Telephone: 202·305·0017 
Fax: 202.-514-1116 
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